IN TH	E SUI	PREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA
-------	-------	-------	-------	----	---------

JUN 1.9 1996

FILEDON

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

\$10 J. VS 1778

Sinei Danuty Genk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

ARNOLD LEON PRATT,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,768

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

✓ CAROLYN J. MOSLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 593280

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal, consisting of one volume of pleadings, etc. and two volumes of trial transcript, will be referred to by the symbols "R," and "T," respectively, followed by the appropriate page numbers. The petitioner will be referred to as "State" and the respondent by his last name.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By amended information, the respondent, Arnold Leon Pratt, Jr., was accused of committing attempted second-degree murder in violation of sections 782.04 and 775.087, Florida Statutes. (R. 69-70) The information alleged that Pratt drove a truck "at and into" Officer Nelson. (R. 69)

Officer Nelson, investigator with the Okaloosa County Sheriff's Office, testified at trial to the following pertinent facts: He and some other officers had the Woodwards' Porsche that was parked in the driveway of their townhouse under surveillance because of information that Pratt and his brother, Anthony, were going to steal it. (T. 104-105) At approximately 9:30 p.m., Pratt and his brother, Anthony, while riding in a Chevrolet truck, drove by the Porsche. (T. 107) They left the area but came back less than an

-1-

hour later. (T. 107) Pratt dropped Anthony off somewhere in the neighborhood. Anthony approached the Porsche. (T. 107, 111) He opened the door with a key and entered the car. (T. 108, 110) At that time, Nelson and two OSI investigators ran across the street and apprehended Anthony. (T. 108) The officers, wearing visible belt badges, identified themselves as law enforcement officers. (T. 109-110) Anthony was uncooperative but not violent. (T. 110) The officers positioned him against the back of the Porsche. (T. 111) Nelson stood right behind Anthony, and an officer stood on each side of Anthony to hold down his arms. (T. 116) One of the officers then moved away from the vehicle. (T. 111) At that point, the following happened:

I turned, and as I turned, I remained -- I kept ahold of Anthony Pratt, and we both turned at the same time in unison right behind the car, and the first thing that I saw was a pair of headlights right on top of us. He proceeded -- the truck proceeded up into the driveways which, as I said, were fairly long, completely off the roadway, and he hit myself and his brother Anthony. He accelerated -- well, I still had ahold of Anthony. At the time we were struck, I was about halfway underneath the truck, and I was holding the front bumper with my left hand. Somehow, I have no idea, but Tony was holding on to me about around my waist, somewhere around my waist area, and he was almost completely underneath the truck if not completely underneath. The truck accelerated, turned sharp left at which I went out from underneath the It seems like the truck struck me on one of my truck. shoulders. *** After he yanked it to the left, I was flung from underneath the truck into another car that was parked in a driveway that was down from the Porsche. He

proceeded back onto the roadway and all the way to the end of Sea Rover Lane, which was the street we were on, with his brother still underneath the truck. At the time he reached the end of Sea Rover Lane, he was stopped by Investigator Mark Young and Floyd Thomas.

(T. 111-112)

Anthony let out "a real shrill-type scream, and you could smell the rubber and the skin and hide being burned as that truck was going down the street." (T. 113) Nelson fired a shot into the truck's rear window as it left the scene "because I knew or felt like that if I didn't stop him he was going to kill somebody and that would have been his brother, because at that point in time he didn't know if it was -- he had no way of knowing if it was me that was under the truck or if it was his brother under the truck, so I shot to stop him." (T. 112) The truck, driven by Pratt, was stopped "maybe 150 yards" away from the Porsche. (T. 112) It was stopped by the officers who blocked off the streets. (T. 113-114) Officer Nelson suffered a bruised shoulder and pain over his entire body. (T. 117)

Pratt was taken out of the truck and put on the ground. (T. 114) Nelson and another officer went to the front of the truck to find Anthony. (T. 114-115) Although injured, Anthony got up and fought with the police until he collapsed, apparently from the loss of

- 3 -

blood. (T. 114-115) Pratt was taken into custody and transported

to Hurlburt OSI. (T. 115)

Agent Ackley described the incident as follows:

The truck approached. It was nighttime. The lights were on, and the truck came around the corner onto Sea Rover Lane and drove directly towards us at a relatively slow rate of speed, approached us maybe twenty to twenty-five feet away at the time and slowed down almost to a stop like you would roll through a stop sign kind of thing, and I thought at that time that Arnold Pratt was going to get out of the truck to assist his brother or find out what was going on. I had redrawn my gun from my holster not knowing if he might be armed or what his state of mind was. Once he was about twenty-feet from us, the truck accelerated towards myself, Officer Nelson and Special Agent Lydsten. At that time it took me by surprise and I jumped, I yelled to the others ... and I jumped back towards the Porsche, towards the driver's side of the Porsche out of the way of the path of the Jeff Lydsten at the time jumped the other way, vehicle. and to the best of my recollection, at the time Anthony Pratt is against the vehicle, Joe Nelson is behind him kind of like holding him. The path of the truck was heading directly towards the back of the Porsche towards all of us, all four of us, and then the truck sort of turned back away from the Porsche, and it was my perception at the time that if everybody would have stayed in the exact position that we were in, the truck would have struck Special Agent Lydsten, Officer Nelson Once the truck veered back away from the and myself. Porsche, Joe -- once we let go of Anthony Pratt, Joe was left by himself with Anthony Pratt, and they were both struggling at the time. When the truck got right up to them, Anthony Pratt was turned with Joe holding on to him The truck struck the both of them. facing the truck. Both of them go down at this point under the front of the I am on the side of the truck, the passenger vehicle. side of the truck now, in full view of both of them going down. When they go to the pavement, the truck drives up over top of them, Joe Nelson lying on his back on the street. Anthony Pratt is on top of him, and the truck tire is up over on top of them both. The truck is accelerating even more at this point. They go maybe ten feet or so. Joe Nelson gets kind of sandwiched out from underneath, rolls into a car that is parked next to the Porsche, maybe fifteen feet away or so. The truck continues at a high rate of speed, fishtails back out onto the street heading down the street, and Anthony Pratt at this time is somewhat tangled in the bumper with his arms, I believe at the time, under the tire of the truck and screaming the entire way. I remember Joe Nelson rolled up. We all got up. Joe Nelson fired one shot towards the back of the vehicle, and we had a roadblock at the end of the street approximately 150 feet down the street. Arnold Pratt comes to a stop.

(T. 144-146)

Agent Ackley further explained:

When I first saw the truck, it was turning onto Sea Rover Lane, and it was at a relatively slow rate of speed approaching the four of us in our general direction. If the truck at that point would have continued on its path, it is my belief at this point and my perception certainly then was that the truck would have struck the four of us as we were compacted into a smaller area and continued on into the Porsche. As it approached the Porsche and started to accelerate again, it veered away from the Porsche, and then on that track and the eventual track that it took, if the four of us had stayed in our positions as we were when the truck started to turn, it is my recollection that he would have missed his brother, missed the Porsche, but struck Special Agent Lydsten, Officer Nelson and myself.

(T. 162) Again Ackley stated, "What I am trying to say is with the truck turning, it was my perception that the truck turned and on that present course would have missed the Porsche, which it did, and would have missed his brother which he probably would have if

- 5 -

he hadn't either struggled into or been pulled into the path by Officer Nelson." (T. 183)

Without objection from defense counsel, the jury was instructed on attempted second-degree murder, attempted third-degree murder, attempted manslaughter, aggravated battery, aggravated assault, and battery. (T. 360-370, 374-376)

The verdict form read in pertinent part:

Guilty of Attempted Second Degree Murder
Guilty of Attempted Third Degree Murder
Guilty of Attempted Manslaughter
Guilty of Aggravated Battery
Guilty of Aggravated Assault
Guilty of Battery
Not Guilty

(R. 99)

The jury convicted Pratt of attempted third-degree murder. (R. 99; T. 377) It further found that Pratt "used, carried, displayed, threatened to use or attempted to use a weapon in the commission of the crime" (R. 99), which in this case was a truck.

Pratt appealed his judgment of conviction to the First District. On authority of <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), the conviction was reversed with a certified question as to the appropriate remedy on remand (reduction in conviction, retrial, or discharge). <u>Pratt v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

- 6 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered affirmatively. Pratt's conviction should be reduced to attempted manslaughter. The evidence supports this offense, as well as the charged offense. In the First District's own words, "The record demonstrates unequivocally that the charge arose from a violent, dangerous, and potentially deadly incident perpetrated by the appellant." Pratt, at 1007.

Alternatively, Pratt should be granted a new trial, not discharge. The error occurred in the jury instructions (instruction on nonexistent crime as a lesser offense), and since the jury relied on the erroneous instruction, the error was harmful. The remedy for this type of error, as this Court has held on many occasions, is retrial, not discharge. The United States Supreme Court is in agreement.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED OUESTION

WHEN A DEFENDANT IS CHARGED WITH ATTEMPTED SECOND-DEGREE (DEPRAVED MIND) MURDER AND IS CONVICTED BY A JURY OF THE CATEGORY 2 LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED THIRD-DEGREE (FELONY) MURDER, DO STATE V. (FLA. 1995), AND SECTION GRAY, 654 SO.2D 552 924.34, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), REQUIRE OR PERMIT THE TRIAL COURT, UPON REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION, JUDGMENT FOR ATTEMPTED VOLUNTARY TO ENTER MANSLAUGHTER, A CATEGORY 1 NECESSARILY INCLUDED LESSER OFFENSE OF THE CRIME CHARGED?

IF THE ANSWER IS NO, THEN DO LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL?

The answer to the first part of the certified question is "yes." In an effort to free his brother in the midst of an auto theft, Pratt drove his truck into an officer who was on foot. He was charged with attempted second-degree murder and convicted of attempted third-degree murder, a lesser offense. More than a year after his trial was over, this Court held in <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552, 554 (Fla. 1995) that attempted felony murder was no longer a crime in Florida.

Section 924.34, Florida Statutes provides:

When the appellate court determines that the evidence does not prove the offense for which the defendant was found guilty but <u>does establish his guilt of a lesser</u> statutory degree of the offense or a lesser offense necessarily included in the <u>offense charged</u>, the appellate court shall reverse the judgment and direct the

- 8 -

trial court to enter judgment for the lesser degree of the offense or for the lesser included offense. (e.s.)

In the case at bar, Pratt was charged with attempted seconddegree murder and attempted manslaughter, a category one lesser included offense. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 931, 934 (Fla. 1983); <u>Holland v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 813, 816 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

The plain language of section 924.34 authorizes the reduction of Pratt's conviction to attempted manslaughter. Moreover, the statute has been applied in similar situations. Paige v. State, 641 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (conviction under void statute), collecting cases; Harris v. State, 649 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (same); Ellison v. State, 547 So. 2d 1003, 1006 (Fla. 1st murder conviction DCA 1989) (second-degree reduced to manslaughter), guashed on other grounds, State v. Ellison, 561 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 1990). <u>But see Jordan v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 1161, 1162 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), approved, Jordan v. State, 438 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1983).

The answer to the second part of the certified question likewise is "yes." The error in the case at bar was an erroneous jury instruction. The trial court instructed the jury that it had the option of convicting Pratt of attempted third-degree murder, a nonexistent crime, as a lesser offense of attempted second-degree

- 9 -

murder. (T. 362, 365-367, 374) The error was harmful because, as it turned out, this was the option chosen by the jury. (R. 99; T. 377)

This Court has repeatedly held that when a defendant has been convicted in a trial in which the judge instructed on a nonexistent crime as a lesser included offense, the proper remedy was retrial, not discharge. <u>See State v. Sykes</u>, 434 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1983) (defendant convicted of nonexistent crime as lesser offense of grand theft); <u>State v. Ervin</u>, 435 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1983) (defendant convicted of nonexistent crime as lesser offense of dealing in stolen property); <u>Achin v. State</u>, 436 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1982) (defendant convicted of nonexistent crime as lesser offense of extortion); <u>Jordan v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, (defendant convicted of nonexistent crime as lesser offense of with violence).

This Court's decisions are in accord with federal law. "The successful appeal of a judgment of conviction, on any ground other than the insufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict, ... poses no bar to further prosecution on the same charge." <u>United States v. Scott</u>, 437 U.S. 82, 90-91 (1978).

Montana v. Hall, 481 U.S. 400 (1987) is analogous to the instant case. The defendant there was accused of molesting his 12-year-old

- 10 -

stepdaughter. The State originally charged the defendant with sexual assault, but at the defendant's behest, he was tried instead for incest. The jury convicted him of incest. On appeal, the parties discovered that incest was not a crime at the time of the defendant's assault. The State, therefore, sought to retry the defendant for sexual assault. The Montana Supreme Court concluded that retrial was barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause on two grounds. First, sexual assault and incest were the same offense; and second, the defendant had been convicted of a nonexistent crime. The United States Supreme Court held that the defendant could be retried for sexual assault:

Although Montana's ex post facto law clause prevents Montana from convicting respondent of incest, we see no reason why the State should not be allowed to put respondent to a trial on the related charge of sexual assault. There is no suggestion that the evidence insufficient introduced at trial was to convict respondent. Montana originally sought to try respondent for sexual assault. At Respondent's behest, Montana tried him instead for incest. In these circumstances, trial of respondent for sexual assault, after reversal of respondent's incest conviction on grounds unrelated to quilt or innocence, does not offend the Double Jeopardy Clause.

*** [T]he Brown [v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161 (1977)] analysis is not apposite in this case. In Brown, the defendant did not overturn the first conviction; indeed, he served the prison sentence assessed as punishment for that crime. Thus, when the State sought to try him for auto theft, it actually was seeking a second conviction for the same offense. By contrast, respondent in this case sought, and secured, invalidation of his first conviction. This case falls squarely within the rule that retrial is permissible after a conviction is reversed on appeal.

The Montana court also suggested that the Double Jeopardy Clause would forbid retrial because respondent was convicted of an offense that did not exist when respondent had committed the acts in question. But, under the Montana court's reading of the Montana sexual assault statute, respondent's conduct apparently was criminal at the time he engaged in it. If that is so, the State simply relied on the wrong statute in its second information. It is clear that the Constitution permits retrial after a conviction is reversed because of a defect in the charging instrument. [citations omitted]

<u>Id.</u>, at 403-404. Here, the defect happened to be in the jury instructions on lesser offenses instead of in the charging document. <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 873 F. 2d 900 (6th Cir. 1989).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, the State respectfully requests that the certified question be answered in the affirmative and the decision of the First District quashed.