017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

MOJ. MARINE

JUL 11 1996

CLEGK,	WAR FALL WAR	COURT
Fy	and Dogstay Go	:X

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. : CASE NO. 87,768

ARNOLD LEON PRATT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMIE SPIVEY #0850901
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Petitioner's "Statement Of the Case and Facts."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I

This Court can not impose a conviction for attempted manslaughter as a category 1 lesser-included offense of attempted second-degree depraved mind murder because the jury's verdict [attempted third-degree (felony) murder] does not include a finding regarding specific intent, a necessary element of attempted manslaughter. Nor may Respondent be twice tried for this offense without violating constitutional protections against double jeopardy.

Issue II

The State of Florida's prosecution for this offense began 4 years after Respondent's arrest on this charge, in violation of the Statute of Limitations regarding the prosecution of first-degree felonies. The fact that Respondent was continually absent from the State of Florida did not toll the Statute of Limitations since his absence was not of his choosing, but was caused by his incarceration for the same offense in a federal prison in Leavenworth, Kansas. Because the State of Florida failed to exercise their prerogative to prosecute Respondent within the 4 years required by the Statute, the trial court lacked subjectmatter jurisdiction to convict.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

CERTIFIED OUESTION

WHEN A DEFENDANT IS CHARGED WITH ATTEMPTED SECOND-DEGREE (DEPRAVED MIND) MURDER AND IS CONVICTED BY A JURY OF THE CATEGORY 2 LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED THIRD-DEGREE (FELONY) MURDER, DO STATE V. GRAY, 654 SO. 2D 552 (FLA. 1995), AND SECTION 924.34, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), REQUIRE OR PERMIT THE TRIAL COURT, UPON REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION, TO ENTER JUDGEMENT FOR ATTEMPTED VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER, A CATEGORY 1 NECESSARILY INCLUDED LESSER OFFENSE OF THE CRIME CHARGED?

IF THE ANSWER IS NO, THEN DO LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL?

The answer to the first part of the certified question is "no." Petitioner argues Section 924.24, Florida Statutes, is applicable. Section 924.34 provides:

When the appellate court determines that the evidence does not prove the offense for which the defendant was found guilty but does establish his guilt of a lesser statutory degree of the offense or a lesser offense necessarily included in the offense charged, the appellate court shall reverse the judgement and direct the trial court enter judgement for the lesser degree of the offense or for the lesser included offense.

Petitioner is wrong. Section 924.34 is inapposite because, by it's plain language, it references convictions which have been overturned for insufficient evidence, only. By contrast, respondent's conviction has not been overturned for insufficient

evidence, but rather, it has been declared a non-existent crime by this Court. See <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552, 554 (Fla. 1995). It was well-reasoned by the First District Court of Appeals that "attempted third-degree (felony) murder has no necessarily included lesser offense." <u>Pratt v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 1007, 1009 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). And if it did, attempted-manslaughter could not be one since it contains an element (specific intent) not found in attempted third-degree (felony) murder.

[3] If the jury had convicted the appellant as charged, the law would have required the jury to find intent on the appellant's part. Instead, in convicting him of a lesserincluded crime that does not contain the element of intent, the jury obviously did not have to find intent. Were we to adopt the state's position and direct entry of the judgement for attempted manslaughter (an intent crime) pursuant to Section 924.34, we necessarily would be acting as the fact-finder and would have to assume the presence of the requisite intent. Such a result would encroach impermissibly upon the province of the jury.

Id. Respondent can say it no better. Hence, the appropriate remedy does not allow for imposition of a phantom lesser-included offense. See, also, <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S292 (Fla. July 3, 1996).

The answer to the second part of the certified question is, also, "no." Principles of double jeopardy prohibit the re-trial of Respondent for the same conduct which formed the basis for the

original charge. Petitioner's reference to Montana v. Hall, 481 U.S. 400, 107 S. Ct. 1825, 95 L. Ed. 2d 354 (1987) is unavailing. In that case, the Supreme Court said a defendant could be re-tried where a conviction had been obtained for a non-existent crime containing essentially the same elements as the new charge. Of course, this was the holding of Achin v. State, 436 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1982), as well; but this adds nothing to the discussion because, as demonstrated above, the charge of attempted manslaughter contains a necessary element (specific intent) which may not be presumed from the jury's verdict.

Moreover, Respondent objected to the inclusion of any lesser-included offenses on the verdict form (T 304). He should not be made to pay for the State's error in electing to try him for a non-existent lesser offense. And though the State sought the conviction in good faith, with no preconception the offense of attempted felony murder would be stricken from the law, the fact is of little solace to a defendant who is faced with, yet, a third trial for this offense, having completed a prison sentence for the same at Ft. Leavenworth. Respondent has been punished once, already, for this crime, and the State of Florida had a fair opportunity to punish him a second time, but failed. Without assigning blame to either party, justice requires that Respondent, now, be set free. In any event, Respondent may not be twice tried for the same conduct (by the State of Florida),

notwithstanding the previous guilty verdict for a non-existent crime. See <u>Harris v Oklahoma</u>, 433 U.S. 682, 97 S.Ct. 2912, 53 L.Ed 2d 1054 (1977); 5th & 14th Amendments, the U.S. Constitution; and Article I, Section 9, the Florida Constitution.

ISSUE II

WHETHER RESPONDENT'S ABSENCE FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA, WITH THE KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT OF THE STATE, TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS THEREBY ALLOWING THIS PROSECUTION TO OCCUR 4½ YEARS AFTER THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME.

Respondent was arrested by Okaloosa County sheriff's deputies on September 8, 1987 for having engaged in a conspiracy to steal a car. The state alleged Respondent attempted to rundown and murder Deputy Joe Nelson, using a pick-up truck as a deadly weapon, in the attempt to steal another vehicle. Respondent was subsequently released to the United States Air Force, Office of Special Investigations, with full knowledge that he would be prosecuted under military jurisdiction (R 30). The State of Florida knew Respondent was sentenced to 22 years prison in that case, and that Respondent was continuously incarcerated in the federal prison at Leavenworth, Kansas, from October 14, 1988, until September 3, 1991 (R 32). Attempted second-degree murder with a deadly weapon per Section 775.087 is a first-degree felony which must be prosecuted within 4 years. See Section 775.015(2)(b), Florida Statutes. Nonetheless, the State of Florida failed to commence its prosecution until March 5, 1992, 4 ½ years after Respondent's arrest (R 3, 4).

Once the court's jurisdiction was challenged by Respondent, the State had the burden to prove the prosecution was not barred by the statute. See <u>Fleming v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1988). The State relied upon Section 775.15(6), Florida Statutes which states, in part:

(6) The period of limitation does not run during any time when the defendant is continuously absent from the state or has no reasonably ascertainable place of abode or work within the state, ...

The State argued the statute was tolled during the time Respondent was continuously incarcerated in Leavenworth Prison, in Leavenworth, Kansas (R 23). (Subtracting the time Respondent spent in Kansas from the date since his arrest results in a net delay of <u>less</u> than four years.) The trial court agreed, saying:

COURT: I'm going to deny the motion to The Court finds that the defendant dismiss. was continuously absent from the State of Florida from October 14, 1988, until September 3rd, 1993, during which time the statute of limitations was tolled. court finds that the statute of limitations would run from September 7th, 1987, through October 14th, 1988, and then would commence once again on September 3rd, 1991. Since that does not fall outside the six year maximum limit for prosecution of this offense, the Court will deny the motion to dismiss based on a violation of statute of limitations.

(T 40)

Respondent submits, however, his absence from the State of Florida did not toll the statute of limitations. See Section 775.15. Subsection (6), cited by the State, applies only where the defendant's absence prevents the State from obtaining in personam jurisdiction over a defendant. In <u>Friday v. Newman</u>, 183

So. 2d 25 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966), the court said:

[2, 3] As a general rule a tolling statute ... is not applied if a defendant could be served with process, either actual or substitute, in which event a defendant's absence from the state does not toll the running of the statute of limitations.

Id. at 26. In <u>State v. Miller</u>, 581 so. 2d 641 (Fla. 2nd DCA
1991), the court said:

[3] Absence from the state can certainly cause the state problems in commencing a prosecution, affording a speedy trial, or affording due process to litigants. See Fleming, Antonietti, Friday v. Newman, 183 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966), and when the absence is the fault of the defendant the relative time periods are tolled. When however, the absence from the state is not the fault of the defendant and does not result in preventing prosecution, the time periods of statutes of limitations are not tolled. Walker v. State, 281 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1973), cert. denied, 289 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 1974). See also Mishan v. Crews, 363 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Fleming; Friday.

Id. at 642. While many of these cases involve the speedy trial rule (Rule 3.191, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure), they speak to identical due process issues, nonetheless.

In this case, the State failed to show that the trial was delayed because of Respondent's absence from the state, or that Respondent resisted extradition. See Mishan v. Crews, 363 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); State v. Miller, supra; State v. Antonietti, 558 So. 192 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). To the contrary, Respondent was continuously available for extradition and

prosecution during this period of time. Hence, the statute was not tolled and the court was without jurisdiction in this matter.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasoning, caselaw and other citation of authority, Respondent requests this Honorable Court dismiss this cause for all time.